Case No. 2008-CA-01083

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SIDHARTH SOLANKI, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARY; DEVESHA S. SOLANKI AND AVANI S. SOLANKI, MINORS BY AND THROUGH THEIR FATHER AND NATURAL GUARDIAN, SIDHARTH SOLANKI, AND NEHA SOLANKI, WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF NILIMA SOLANKI, DECEASED, AND ALL OTHER WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF NILIMA SOLANKI, DECEASED, APPELLANTS

vs.

MELVIN TYRONE ERVIN, THE MERCHANT COMPANY D/B/A MERCHANT FOODSERVICES, JOHN DOE PERSONS 1-10, AND JOHN DOE ENTITIES 1-10, APPELLEES

Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in not granting the Appellants' Motion for Judgment

 Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the alternative, for a Judgment on Liability and a New

 Trial on Damages only, or, in the alternative, for a New Trial on both Liability and

 Damages.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in not granting the Appellants' Motion for a Direct Verdict in favor of the Appellants at the close of the Trial testimony and in Not Granting a Peremptory Instruction in Favor of the Appellants on the Grounds that the Appellees were Negligent as a Matter of Law in the Appellee, Melvin Ervin, made a Lane Change without first ascertaining that the lane change could be safely made, failed to keep and maintain a proper lookout, and failed to keep and maintain his vehicle under free and easy control.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in granting Appellees' Jury Instruction Number D-11, which was the Court's Jury Instruction No. 22.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in granting Appellees' Jury Instruction Number D-8, which was the Court's Jury Instruction No. 20.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

On or about March 29, 2007, Nilima Solanki was driving and operating her vehicle in a westerly direction on Interstate 220 in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, when her vehicle suddenly went dead and stalled in the left-hand lane. Before Nilima Solanki could get her car off of the highway and before she could get herself and her baby out of the car, she was hit from the rear by the Appellee, Melvin Ervin (hereinafter referred to as "Appellee Ervin"). At the time of the wreck in question, Appellee Ervin was driving and operating an 18wheeler belonging to the Appellee, The Merchant Company d/b/a Merchant Foodservices (hereinafter referred to as "Appellee Company"). Also, at the time of the wreck in question, Appellee Ervin was an employee who was on duty and who was working within the course and scope of his employment with Appellee Company. Appellee Ervin was traveling in the same direction as Nilima Solanki, but directly behind Nilima Solanki, when he carelessly, recklessly and negligently failed to pay attention to Nilima Solanki's vehicle in front of him, failed to maintain a safe following distance between he and the automobile in front of him, failed to slow his vehicle to a reasonable speed given the traffic conditions present then and there at the time, and failed to stop his vehicle behind Nilima Solanki, which was stopped in the left-hand lane, thereby colliding with the rear of Nilima Solanki's vehicle with great force, causing her death or he changed lanes at a time when it was unsafe to do so and rear-ended her.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of the Court Below

The trial of the case sub judice was held before a jury of twelve commencing on April 8, 2008. The case was submitted to the jury on instructions delivered by the Court. The jury found

in favor of the Appellees, Melvin Ervin and The Merchant Company d/b/a Merchant Foodservices. Feeling aggrieved by the jury verdict, the Appellants filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the alternative, for a Judgment on Liability and a New Trial on Damages only, or, in the alternative, for a New Trial on both Liability and Damages.

C. Statement of the Facts

This is a case brought by the Heirs at Law of Nilima Solanki, Deceased, for damages for her having been killed as a result of an automobile/eighteen-wheeler wreck on I-220 in Jackson, Mississippi, on or about March 29, 2007. Nilima Solanki had a two-year-old baby in the car with her when, for some unknown reason, her car went dead and stopped on the I-220 roadway. Nilima Solanki was apparently trying to pull off the interstate, to the left, but, before she could get out of her car, Appellee Ervin, negligently changed lanes, allegedly from behind a dump truck, at a time when he was too close to her to do anything but rear-end her, and he ran into the rear of her car. The law in Mississippi is well established that a person can only change lanes after he or she has first ascertained that the lane change can be safely done. All of the evidence showed that when Appellee Ervin changed lanes, he was either so close to Nilima Solanki's vehicle that he did not have time to even hit his brakes or he was so close that he could not avoid hitting her and that he changed lanes without keeping and maintaining a proper lookout for the vehicle in the next lane ahead of him, which he was moving into. Appellee Ervin rear-ended Nilima Solanki because he did not see her until the last second, and he only had time to snatch his vehicle to the left. The evidence showed that Appellee Ervin was so close to Nilima Solanki's vehicle, that he could not avoid hitting the rear of her vehicle. Appellee Ervin had a duty, under Mississippi law, to keep and maintain a proper lookout and to keep his vehicle under reasonable control. During the discovery process, the

Appellants' attorney took Appellee Ervin's deposition. During that deposition, Appellee Ervin said that he moved over and that he saw Nilima Solanki's vehicle up ahead but that he thought then that she was moving. The place where he said that he first saw her, after changing lanes, was approximately three football fields away. This was Appellee Ervin's first version. He gave another version, whereby he stated that when he moved over, Nilima Solanki was so close that he did not even have time to do anything but hit her. This was Appellee Ervin's second version. In addition to the first two versions, Appellee Ervin told the officer, when he arrived at the scene, that he moved over because cars were coming up the ramp from 49 highway and that he moved over to give them room to merge onto Interstate 220 and that he did not have time to avoid the accident once he moved over. This third version was supported, at trial, by the investigating Officer and was reflected on the accident report. These are three totally different versions of how and when Appellee Ervin claims that he changed lanes. When Appellee Ervin spoke to the Officer at the scene, he did not mention a dump truck being in front of him, and he also said that the reason he could not cut back to the right to go back into the lane he had just came out of was that there were too many cars in that lane. No one else ever testified that they saw a dump truck or any of the other cars. Neither the dump truck nor any of the other cars stopped. As such, the dump truck and other cars appear to have been phantom vehicles. Had they really been there, they would have had to have been in the wreck because Appellee Ervin instantly knocked Nilima Solanki's car to the right, which in turn instantly blocked the entire right lane, and the 18-wheeler laid down across both lanes, meaning that at 70 miles-per-hour they could not have passed by him, nor could they have stopped without wrecking. If he had been passing them and if that is the reason he could not pull back into the right lane, then there is no way they could have avoided being in the wreck. The fact that none of them stopped is highly suspicious. The Appellees hired an accident reconstructionist who gave a fourth version of where Appellee Ervin changed lanes, and he stated that he did not use any of the three versions of Appellee Ervin. The Appellees' own expert testified, in Court, that he did not use any of Appellee Ervin's versions because Appellee Ervin had given a different version each time he had testified. In fact, the Appellees' expert had never even spoken with Appellee Ervin and was only looking at the three different versions of how he had previously testified as to when and how he changed lanes. The Appellees' expert had only testified twice before, as an Accident Reconstructionist, and he just arbitrarily chose a distance on the roadway, whereby Appellee Ervin would not have had time to stop or avoid the accident. He had no testimony, nor any facts, to establish that the place he used for Appellee Ervin's lane changes was actually where Appellee Ervin changed lanes. In any event, if Appellee Ervin had changed lanes at that place where his expert suggested, then it was absolutely and totally illegal under our law, because he would have been in a flat area with no reason for him to not have been able to see Nilima Solanki before changing lanes. In that situation, Appellee Ervin was required, under the law, to see Nilima Solanki and not change lanes. The photographs offered into evidence, clearly showed these various versions and how Appellee Ervin had no excuse for hitting Nilima Solanki except for his own negligence.

At the time Appellee Ervin ran into Nilima Solanki's vehicle, she had her emergency lights on because she had just told her husband, Appellant Sid Solanki, over the phone, that she had them on. Appellant, Sid Solanki, also testified, in Court, that the emergency lights were still on the "on" position at the time of the trial and that he had just recently observed them flashing when the key was turned on. No one, to this day, has cut the emergency lights off. There was absolutely no evidence to refute the fact that Nilima Solanki's emergency lights were on at the time of the wreck.

It was agreed to and established that, at the time of the wreck, Appellee Ervin was on duty for and was working within the course and scope of his employment with, the Appellee, The Merchant Companies d/b/a Merchant Food Services.

Nilima Solanki was going to Monticello, Mississippi, that morning to meet her husband at their place of business. She lived in Madison, Mississippi. Nilima Solanki and her husband had three children of their own and had a small boy that they had raised from birth, which they were adopting. The child was two years old at the time, and he was in a car seat in the back on the right side. Nilima Solanki's car went dead while she was going down the road, and, apparently, she could not get off of the roadway either because cars were on each side of her as she was slowing down to get off the roadway or it just stopped too quickly. Nilima Solanki had a small car, and she had gotten to the left lane of I-220, which indicates that she was trying to get off of the roadway. She was maybe a little on the shoulder. The photographs, that were offered into evidence, clearly showed that she had almost gotten off. There was no evidence, whatsoever, offered that showed that Nilima Solanki could have gotten off of the roadway. The Defense simply argued that there was nothing to the side of the road to keep her from getting off but they did not produce any evidence that she could have gotten off the roadway. However, no logical person would assume that Nilima Solanki just decided to park her car on the interstate, in the fast lane, with her baby on the back seat, if she had the option of parking on the shoulder of the roadway. The photographs show/indicate that Nilima Solanki was pointing towards getting off of the roadway and that she had almost gotten off. In any event, Nilima Solanki got far enough to the left that Appellee Ervin should have been able to pass her on the right.

The evidence showed that immediately upon Nilima Solanki's car stopping on the roadway,

she called her husband on her cell phone, in a state of panic, and told him that her car was stalled near the yellow lane of the interstate on I-220; that she had the baby in the car; and that she could not get him out. Nilima Solanki also told her husband that she had her emergency lights on, and he testified that he told her to get the baby and run from the car and as soon as he told her that she said, "Oh my God," and he heard the impact from the truck hitting her. Nilima Solanki's phone never went dead, and Appellant Sid Solanki could hear the baby crying. However, he never heard his wife again. Appellant Sid Solanki kept his phone on all the way from Monticello. Nilima Solanki was taken to University Hospital, whereby she died of a massive brain trauma after nine days. Nilima Solanki only had seconds, after her car stopped, before she was hit.

Appellee Ervin said that it looked like Nilima Solanki was moving when he first saw her but that he later realized that she was stopped. If Nilima Solanki was moving, as he thought, that means that she had absolutely no time to get over. A witness coming from the other way, which cut off about two hundred yards before the scene of the subject accident, said that he also thought that Nilima Solanki was moving when he first saw her, but realized, as he got closer, that she was stopped. He also said that Nilima Solanki was on her cell phone with one foot out the door. This indicates that when Nilima Solanki's husband was telling her to get out fast, that she was trying to do so and, that she opened the door to get out and was immediately hit. Another witness who was coming from the opposite direction said that he actually saw the wreck. He testified that he was looking her direction but that he did not see the car but that he did see the 18-wheeler do a sudden jerk to the left and then back to the right, and that the 18-wheeler then laid down across both lanes of the road. Until he got up to where the wreck had occurred, he said that he did not know that the truck had hit a car. This indicates that Appellee Ervin hit Nilima Solanki as soon as he changed

lanes or that he waited until he was within a few feet of her to attempt to miss her. If he had not been so close to her when he changed lanes, he could have just pulled on the shoulder and gone around her. Also, if he were going 65 to 70 miles-per-hour, as all evidence showed, he would have been able to slow down some if he were paying attention. Appellee Ervin contends that he only slowed to 55 to 60 miles-per-hour. That is not slowing down at all. If he had hit his brakes at all, he would have had to slow down some. The Appellees' expert testified that Appellee Ervin was traveling 67 miles-per-hour at 98 feet before the impact. The speed was taken from the device from the truck that records the speed of the truck. This was taken from the downloading of the GPS and its telematic interface with the engine control module.

There was no logical explanation offered as to why he had to change lanes at a time when he had not first ascertained that it was safe to do so. This is strict negligence on his part.

The Court gave an instruction to the jury, which was Jury Instruction No. 20 (Appellees' Jury Instruction No. D-8), that stated that it is illegal to park a vehicle on the highway unless it is impossible to get off the road. This instruction was given over the objection of the Appellants, and it clearly created a very confusing situation with the Jury, in that it appeared that if the Appellants could not prove that it was impossible for Nilima Solanki to get off the road, then the wreck was totally her fault.

The Court, reluctantly, gave some comparative negligence instructions to the Jury, basically telling the Jury that they could assign negligence to any party and that if they thought Nilima Solanki was negligent in any way, then they could award her damages and deduct her percentage of fault from the total verdict. While giving the Jury their Instructions, the trial judge stated that he did not think that any comparative negligence instructions should be given because, as he stated on the

record, he saw no negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki. The trial judge went on to explain why. However, he said that out of abundance of caution he would give the instruction.

The Jury returned a verdict for the Appellees, which meant that they assigned 100% fault to Nilima Solanki, whom the trial judge had just said that he saw absolutely no negligence on her part. All four versions of the lane change clearly showed Appellee Ervin to be in violation of the lane change law and just plain common law negligence.

It appears that (1) the Jury got completely confused about the alleged "parking in a roadway" instruction and as to what affect it had on the case; (2) the Jury did not understand the instruction; or (3) the jury was prejudice against the Appellants. The Appellants are from India, and they are well-educated. The Appellant children are extremely smart, and one is getting ready to go to medical school. The others are also thinking of going to medical school, when they get old enough to do so.

At the close of the trial the Appellants moved for a directed verdict on liability on the grounds of an improper lane change, failure to keep and maintain a proper lookout and for failing to keep his vehicle under control. The Court denied said motion, even though there were many cases cited by the Appellants, whereby the Supreme Court had held that the lower Court should have granted a directed verdict under similar situations.

Also, the Appellants asked for a peremptory instruction at the close of the trial on the question of liability, and it was denied.

The Appellants filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the Alternative, for Judgment on Liability and a New Trial on Damages Only, or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial on Both Liability and Damages as the Verdict of the Jury was Against the Overwhelming Weight of the Evidence and the Law, and Evinced Bias and Prejudice on part of the

Jury Against the Appellants. The trial Court denied said Motion, and it is from the denial of said Motion that the Appellants perfect their appeal.

There are other issues but the Appellants will raise them separately.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is a suit by the Heirs at Law of Nilima Solanki, Deceased, who was killed on Interstate 220 just Southwest of the Highway 49 bridge in Jackson, Mississippi, when her car stalled in the left lane of the highway as she had been traveling southwest bound. As soon as her vehicle stalled, Nilima Solanki called her husband, who was in Monticello, Mississippi and told him, in a state of panic, that her car was stalled on I-220. She also told him that her emergency lights were on, that their baby was in the back seat and that she did not know what to do. He advised her to get the baby and jump out, when the 18-wheeler, driven by Appellee Ervin and owned by Appellee Company, ran into the back of her on the Interstate. It is undisputed that, at the time that Appellee Ervin ran into Nilima Solanki's vehicle, he was on duty and was in the course and scope of his employment with Appellee Company. Nilima Solanki received severe brain trauma in the wreck and, after staying in the University of Mississippi Hospital for about nine or ten days, died. Basically, there was no evidence as to why Nilima Solanki could not get off of the roadway, and there was no evidence put on by the Appellees that she was negligent in any way. The Appellees only had three witnesses, which were Appellee Ervin, the Appellees' Accident Reconstructionist and Don Williams. Appellee Ervin gave no testimony as to Nilima Solanki being negligent, and he could only testify that she was stopped in the left-hand lane of the highway. The Appellees' Accident Reconstructionist testified that he had no evidence as to why she did not get off of the road, and he said that he would not even try to testify to that fact. The only other witness that the Appellees put on was Don Williams, who was traveling north bound and was meeting Nilima Solanki. Don Williams had turned off about 200 yards before he got to where Nilima Solanki was stalled. He testified that he saw her from that distance, and he said that when he first saw her, he thought that she was moving, but he later determined that she was stopped. He said that Nilima Solanki had her door open and one foot out and was talking on her cell phone. He testified that he saw her for about one minute, and she was out of sight. He said that he did not remember whether she had her emergency lights on or not. He did not testify, in any way, with regard to whether she could have gotten out of the roadway or not. Therefore, the case was totally void of any evidence of negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki.

The Court gave two comparative negligence instructions which gave the jury a right to assign negligence to each party if they felt that each party was negligent. However, the jury returned a verdict for the Appellees. The verdict put 100% negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki, Deceased, and it did not put even 1% negligence on the Appellees. The verdict was clearly and totally against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and showed bias and prejudice on the part of the jury against the Appellants, and as evinced bias and prejudice on their part against the Appellants. The Appellants ask the Court to set aside the Judgment entered for the Appellees and to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellants on the issue of liability and to grant a new trial on damages only or, in the alternative, to grant a new trial on all issues.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY AND A NEW TRIAL ON DAMAGES ONLY, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR A NEW TRIAL ON BOTH LIABILITY AND DAMAGES AS THE VERDICT OF THE JURY

WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND THE LAW, AND EVINCED BIAS AND PREJUDICE ON PART OF THE JURY AGAINST THE APPELLANTS

A. Law in Regards to Lane Change

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