#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SIDHARTH SOLANKI, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARY; DEVESHA S. SOLANKI AND AVANI S. SOLANKI, MINORS BY AND THROUGH THEIR FATHER AND NATURAL GUARDIAN, SIDHARTH SOLANKI, AND NEHA SOLANKI, WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF NILIMA SOLANKI, DECEASED, AND ALL OTHER WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF NILIMA SOLANKI, DECEASED,

### **Appellants**

VS.

### MELVIN TYRONE ERVIN AND THE MERCHANTS COMPANY D/B/A MERCHANTS FOODSERVICES

### **Appellees**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Submitted by:

Roy H. Liddell, MSB

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

In this regard, the jury had every reason to discredit Sidharth Solanki's testimony that he was only on the phone with Nilima Solanki for 20 seconds. *See Ill. Cent. R.R. Co. v. Hawkins*, 830 So. 2d 1162, 1183 (Miss. 2002) ("[W]hen evidence is in conflict, the jury is the sole judge of both the credibility of a witness and the weight of his testimony."); *Johnson*, 967 So. 2d at 23

("conflicts of evidence presented at trial are to be resolved by the jury"); see also McFarland, 919 So. 2d at 906 ("the jury should be the sole judges of fact").

The Solankis ultimately resort to gross speculation to defend the actions (or inactions) of Nilima Solanki that led to the accident. In particular, they argue:

Based upon the location of the Solanki vehicle at the time it was hit, it can reasonably be inferred that Nilima Solanki was traveling in the right-hand lane of I-220 when her vehicle began to become disabled and stall and that she could not move over to the right, as there was traffic entering I-220 via the Medger Evers on-ramp, which was attempting to move over into the right-hand lane in which Nilima Solanki was traveling. It can further be inferred that, as Nilima Solanki could not exit the roadway to her right, she attempted to get left and simply could not make it all the way across the left-hand lane and onto the left shoulder of the roadway before her vehicle stopped moving. There could have been cars passing her on the right also.

(Appellants' Brief, pp. 34-35.) However, no such inferences are warranted in light of the evidence. Indeed, this is pure, unadulterated speculation with no evidentiary foundation whatsoever. The Solankis' own expert acknowledged the speculative nature of this particular theory. (Tr. 311-12, 316):

- A. We don't know whether she [Solanki] started in the left-hand lane or if she was actually in that right-hand lane and there were cars possibly beside her in the left-hand lane. We do not know that. . . . So we do not know. I don't know of anyone that knows what lane, if she was in the right-hand lane or the left-hand lane when she began to try to get over.
- Q. That's total speculation on your part?
- A. On anybody's part. *Nobody knows that*. I haven't seen any information that would give that.

(Tr. 311-12.)

Ultimately, there was substantial evidence of Nilima Solanki's negligence on which the jury could have based its verdict. However, it should be noted that the general verdict for the Appellees/Defendants in this case was not dependent upon the existence of substantial evidence of the negligence of Nilima Solanki. The Solankis' repeated argument that the verdict put "one

hundred percent negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki, Deceased" is not necessarily true. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 10, 18, 37, 38, 42, 43.) While the court granted Defendants' Jury Instruction D-8 (Jury Instruction No. 20) (CP Supp. 34) and D-11 (Jury Instruction No. 22) (CP Supp. 35), these instructions simply instructed the jury that it was allowed to consider the negligence of Nilima Solanki, if any, in rendering their verdict. However, in finding for the Merchants, the jury could have found that the Solankis' simply failed to meet their burden of proof without attributing any negligence to Nilima Solanki. See Jury Instruction No. 19 (D-6) (CP. Supp. 31-32). Thus, even if there were insufficient evidence to support the negligence of Nilima Solanki, which Merchants flatly denies, the general verdict for the Appellees/Defendants should still be affirmed based on the finding that Ervin was not negligent. See Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, 909 So. 2d 721, 726 (Miss. 2005) ("The instructions are to be read together as a whole, with no one instruction to be read alone or taken out of context. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case."); see also Nunnally v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 869 So. 2d 373, 378 (Miss. 2004); Payne v. Rain Forest Nurseries, Inc., 540 So. 2d 35, 40 (Miss. 1989). The Supreme Court has not found error in damage awards merely because of the jury's failure to explicitly assign percentages of fault. Rose v. Cleary, 748 So. 2d 172 (Miss. App. 1999) (citing Leach v. Leach, 597 So. 2d 1295, 1298-99 (Miss. 1992)).

### B. Standard under Mississippi law to sustain a motion for new trial.

In considering a motion for a new trial, the Mississippi Supreme Court holds, "[A] new trial becomes appropriate when a trial court determines that error within the trial mechanism itself has caused a legally incorrect or unjust verdict to be rendered." *White v. Stewman*, 932 So. 2d 27, 33 (Miss. 2006); *see also Hamilton v. Hammons*, 792 So. 2d 956, 965 (Miss. 2001) ("The motion for a new trial has only been employed in rare cases when there would be injustice either

in allowing the verdict to stand or in granting a j.n.o.v.") (quoting *C&C Trucking Co. v. Smith*, 612 So. 2d 1092, 1099 (Miss. 1992)) (emphasis added). In *Ford Motor Co. v. Tennin*, the Court found that "a trial court should grant a motion for a new trial only when upon a review of the entire record the trial judge is left with a firm and definite conviction that the verdict, if allowed to stand, would work a miscarriage of justice." 960 So. 2d 379, 390 (Miss. 2007). In *Hamilton v. Hammons*, the Court held that justice requires a new trial only "when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result from bias, passion, and prejudice." 955 So. 2d at 965.

### 1. The Solankis' motion for a new trial was properly denied.

Like the Solankis' motion for JNOV, the Solankis' motion for a new trial falls far short of that which is required under Mississippi law to nullify the verdict of the jury and order a new trial. (CP 1073.) The verdict was not the product of any error within the trial mechanism itself that has caused a legally incorrect or unjust verdict to be rendered. Nor is there any indication in the record that the jury was confused by faulty jury instructions. Indeed, the instructions granted by the trial court scrupulously adhered to Mississippi law. Nor is there any indication that the jury departed from its oath and rendered a verdict based on bias, passion or prejudice. Even if there were errors in the conduct of the trial, to require reversal, the error must be of such magnitude as to leave no doubt that the Solankis were unduly prejudiced. *Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, 909 So. 2d 721, 730-31 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Busick v. St. John*, 856 So. 2d 304, 308 (Miss. 2003)). Here, the Solankis can point to no instance of having been unduly prejudiced by any rulings of the trial court, and any supposed error relied upon by the Solankis is not of such magnitude as to warrant a new trial.

### 2. The Trial Court did not err in granting Jury Instruction No. 20 (D-8).

In response to the Solankis' arguments regarding Jury Instruction No. 20 (CP. Supp. 34), Merchants hereby incorporates all of the facts, law and arguments made in response to the Solankis' preceding arguments regarding evidence presented at trial supporting Nilima Solanki's violation of Mississippi Code § 63-3-903 for *stopping*, *parking* or *leaving* her vehicle on a paved highway when it was reasonably practicable for her to steer her vehicle onto the shoulder of the highway. Merchants was clearly entitled to a jury instruction on this issue. The Solankis readily acknowledge that "the question of whether it is practical to stop a motor vehicle off [the] highway pursuant to statute is ordinarily one of fact to be submitted to [the] jury on proper instructions." (Appellants' Brief, p. 32.) *See Strong*, 456 So. 2d at 707. The Solankis agree that this is an issue of fact for the jury unless "reasonable minds could not differ." (Appellants' Brief, p. 32.) Here, reasonable minds could differ as to whether it was reasonably practical for Solanki to steer her vehicle off the highway rather than remain parked in the lane of travel. Thus, this issue was properly submitted to the jury and resolved in favor of Merchants.

Further, Solanki's violation of § 63-3-903 constitutes negligence *per se* as Merchants is the class of persons § 63-3-903 was designed to protect and the injury to Merchants was the kind of injury § 63-3-903 was designed to prevent. *See Byrd v. McGill*, 478 So. 2d 302, 304-05 (Miss. 1985); *State Farm Auto Ins. Companies v. Davis*, 887 So. 2d 192, 194 (Miss. App. 2004). According to the Mississippi Supreme Court, § 63-3-903 was enacted by the legislature "to protect motorists on our highways." *Strong*, 456 So. 2d at 707. "They made unlawful conduct found to have been the frequent cause of accidents and were designed to deter that conduct. In sum, [§ 63-3-903] [was] intended to safeguard life and life and limb." *Id.*; *see Golden Flake Snack Foods, Inc. v. Thornton*, 548 So. 2d 382, 384 (Miss. 1989). As noted by the Supreme Court, "[i]t is much too late to question that [§ 63-3-903] furnish[es] the standard of care of a

reasonable man and that deviations constitute negligence per se." *Strong*, 456 So. 2d at 707, n. 7 (emphasis added).

The trial court was well within its discretion granting Merchants' jury instruction D-8 (Jury Instruction No. 20) (CP Supp. 34) and instructing the jury that Nilima Solanki had a duty under Mississippi law to steer or move her vehicle out of the lane of traffic if it was reasonably practicable for her to do so. This is clearly articulated law of Mississippi. The Solankis allege that "this instruction [D-8] basically stated that it was illegal to park your vehicle on a highway unless you could show it was impossible to have parked it off the roadway." (Appellants' Brief, p. 30.) In doing so, however, the Solankis mischaracterize Merchants' jury instruction D-8 (CP Supp. 34), as Merchants purposefully refrained from using the word "impossible" and used the term "reasonably practicable" as instructed by the Court in *Hankins v. Harvey*, 160 So. 2d at 70-71. Thus, the instruction fully and clearly states the law of Mississippi as to Solanki's duty.

Finally, at trial, the Solankis' counsel made a general objection of "misleading" to this jury instruction but failed to articulate any specific basis for such objection. (Tr. 533-34.) The Solankis' counsel stated, "I think it's misleading, confusing, and I don't think it's based upon testimony in the court." (Tr. 533.) This general objection by the Solankis' counsel is insufficient to support the Solankis' assignment of error. Therefore, the Solankis' counsel waived any error in the instruction. *Nunnally*, 869 So. 2d at 378.

## 3. The Trial Court did not err in granting Jury Instruction No. 22 (D-11).

In response to the Solankis' arguments regarding Jury Instruction No. 22 (D-11) (CP Supp. 35), Merchants hereby incorporates all of the facts, laws and arguments made in response to the Solankis' preceding argument regarding evidence presented at trial supporting the negligence of Nilima Solanki. The Solankis repeatedly assert that "there is no way under this set of facts that the jury could have rationally reached the decision that Appellee Ervin was not even

1% at fault and that the wreck was 100% Nilima Solanki's fault." (Appellants' Brief, pp. 37, 42.) Further, the Solankis allege, "One can clearly see that the Court did not see any negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki, and for the jury to have assessed her with 100% of the negligence evidences bias or prejudice on the party of the jury or shows that they were just confused as to what the law was and as to how they were suppose to rule." (*Id.*, pp. 38, 42.)

First, the Solankis are wrong in concluding that the jury necessarily placed 100% of the fault on Nilima Solanki in rendering a verdict in favor of Merchants. A general verdict for the Appellees/Defendants in this case was not dependent upon the existence of substantial evidence of the negligence of Nilima Solanki. While the court granted Defendants' Jury Instruction D-8 (Jury Instruction No. 20) (CP Supp. 34) and D-11 (Jury Instruction No. 22) (CP Supp. 35), these instructions simply instructed the jury that it was allowed to consider the negligence of Nilima Solanki, if any, in rendering their verdict. However, in finding for the Defendants, the jury could have found that Ervin was not negligent, without attributing any negligence to Nilima Solanki. See Jury Instruction No. 19 (D-6) (CP. Supp. 31-32). Thus, even if there were insufficient evidence to support the negligence of Nilima Solanki, which Merchants flatly denies, the general verdict for the Appellees/Defendants should still be affirmed based on the finding that Ervin was not negligent. See Wallace, 672 So. 2d at 729 (On appeal, we do not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, they are read as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed. [citations omitted] Therefore, defects in specific instructions do not require reversal where all instructions taken as a whole fairly-although not perfectly-announce the applicable primary rules of law); see also Burr, 909 So. 2d at 726; Nunnally, 869 So. 2d at 378; Payne, 540 So. 2d at 40.

Second, as Merchants has already discussed at length, Merchants presented substantial evidence at trial supporting the negligence of Nilima Solanki, both in the absence of any mechanical or physical impediment to her steering off the road; the location and direction of the

car where she stopped (indicating she was not coasting toward the median but rather straight ahead); and evidence that Solanki remained in her car for several minutes after stopping in the roadway instead of moving to safety. (Tr. 122-23, 126, 177-78, 191-92, 310, 312-16, 365-67, 376-77, 385-86, 388, 420-23, 456-57, 476.) Further, the Solankis own expert James Hannah conceded that Solanki's actions created a hazard to Ervin and other travelers on I-220. (Tr. 314-16.) Thus, there was substantial evidence in the record from which the jury could have found Solanki 100% negligent. Jury Instruction No. 22 (CP Supp. 35) is based upon Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-15, which allows a jury to consider the comparative negligence of *both parties* in rendering their verdict. *See Munn v. Algee*, 924 F.2d 568 (5th Cir. 1991) ("Under Mississippi law, an injured plaintiff may not recover for damages that he did not take reasonable efforts to avoid").

The Solankis argue, "One can clearly see that the Court did not see any negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki." (Appellants' Brief, p. 38.) However, the trial court granted Jury Instruction No. 22, permitting consideration of Solanki's negligence. (Tr. 523-28, 535.) The trial court never found that there was no negligence on the part of Nilima Solanki as a matter of law. This issue was subsequently revisited in consideration of the Solankis' post-trial motions at which point the court again determined that Jury Instruction No. 22 was properly granted. (CP 1073.)

Finally, the Solankis' instruction P-30 (Jury Instruction No. 23) (CP Supp. 27-28), like Jury Instruction No. 22 (CP Supp. 35), asks the jury to consider the comparative negligence of both parties in rendering their verdict. The Solankis can hardly object to the jury being instructed on the issue of comparative negligence as they themselves submitted, and were granted, an instruction on this issue. (Tr. 523-24.) Any claimed error was therefore waived by the Solankis.

### II. The Trial Court properly denied the Solankis' Motion for Directed Verdict.

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